IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,227

MILO A. ROSE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH Capital Collateral Counsel Florida Bar No. 279080

JOHN A. TOMASINO
Assistant CCC-NR
Florida Bar No. 106021

LINDA McDERMOTT Assistant CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 0102857

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL Northern Region of Florida Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summary denial of Mr. Rose's motion for postconviction relief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 26, 1982, Milo A. Rose was indicted by a Pinellas County Grand Jury for the first degree murder of Robert "Butch" Richardson (R. 1070-1071). Trial counsel, Darryl Rouson, was appointed on March 31, 1983 (R. 164).

Mr. Rose's trial commenced on June 28, 1983. On June 30th, a jury found Mr. Rose guilty of first degree murder (R. 293).

Penalty proceedings were conducted on July 5, 1983, so that trial counsel could begin to prepare for the penalty phase over the holiday weekend (R. 1102-1107). The jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of nine to three (R. 310-311).

The trial court sentenced Mr. Rose to death on July 8, 1983. The trial court found three aggravating circumstances: previously convicted of a violent felony, the murder was committed while under a sentence of imprisonment and cold, calculated and premeditated (R. 329-336). The trial court did not find that the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel, despite the jury's consideration of this factor (R. 332-333).

On direct appeal this Court affirmed the conviction and sentence of death. Rose v. State, 472 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1985).

On October 2, 1987, after his death warrant was signed and his execution scheduled, Mr. Rose filed his Motion to Vacate Judgement of Conviction and Sentence (PC-R1. 5-80). An amendment was filed on August 2, 1988 (PC-R1. 466-508). The trial court summarily denied most of Mr. Rose's Rule 3.850 claims and ordered a limited evidentiary hearing as to those claims concerning

ineffective assistance of counsel in penalty phase, and a claim relating to <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985) (PC-R1. 750, 753). The hearing and argument were conducted on September 7-9 and 12, 1988. The trial court denied all relief on January 25, 1990.

On appeal, this Court denied all relief. Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1993).

After instituting federal habeas corpus proceedings, Mr.

Rose learned that critical State witnesses, Becky Borton and Mark

Poole, made a deal with the State to receive lenient treatment in

exchange for their testimony against Mr. Rose. In December,

1996, Mr. Rose filed a Rule 3.850 motion based on this

information (PC-R2. 1-25). Mr. Rose filed an Amended Motion to

Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence on September 4, 1998

(PC-R2. 187-234).

The lower court held a <u>Huff</u> hearing on December 17, 1998. At the conclusion of the <u>Huff</u> hearing the lower court announced her summary denial of all relief (PC-R2. 770-771). On February 22, 1999, the lower court adopted the State's proposed order and summarily denied all relief (PC-R2. 843-846). Thereafter, notice of appeal was timely filed (PC-R2. 919-920).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. INTRODUCTION

Mr. Rose was convicted and sentenced to death for the murder of Robert "Butch" Richardson. At trial, the State presented the

Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

testimony of three witnesses who identified Mr. Rose as being the individual who killed Mr. Richardson (R. 701-781). The State also presented the testimony of Becky Borton and Mark Poole. Both of these individuals testified that they had seen Mr. Rose hitchhiking in the vicinity of the murder and that they had given him a ride to his home, where they were also staying (R. 865, 888). Both witnesses testified that Mr. Rose had confessed that he had killed Butch (R. 865-866, 890). The State also presented evidence that Mr. Rose had blood on him when he was arrested that night (R. 959).

Evidence was discovered since Mr. Rose's trial indicating that Poole and Borton had an ongoing relationship with the State whereby they received benefits for their testimony. Borton was promised assistance on her pending charges in exchange for her cooperation. The State failed to disclose material exculpatory evidence.

The State withheld material exculpatory evidence regarding the benefits received by Poole and Borton that would have enabled the defense to impeach their credibility by showing the jury why they were testifying against Mr. Rose. As a result of the State's misconduct, the jury that convicted Mr. Rose and sentenced him to death was misled by false testimony and deprived relevant impeachment evidence that would have explained these witnesses' true motivation for testifying against Mr. Rose.

B. THE TRIAL RECORD

Mr. Rose was "represented" at trial by Darryl Rouson, who was appointed on March 31, 1983 (R. 164). At the first hearing with Rouson, held on April 7, 1983, Rouson made an oral motion to withdraw as counsel, which was denied (R. 171a), after Rouson convinced Mr. Rose to accept his representation and waive his speedy trial rights upon Rouson's promise that he would fully prepare, investigate, and "work" the case, including the taking of depositions (R. 1211). Inexplicably, the lower court entered an order on May 25, 1983, continuing the trial to June 27, 1983 (R. 178). Rouson conducted the depositions of Melissa A. Mastridge, Mark Poole, and Becky Borton on June 10, 1983 (R. 179-230). On June 23, 1983, just four days before trial commenced, Judge Parker, not Judge Schaeffer, entered an order appointing Dr. Slomin to evaluate Mr. Rose (R. 231). Rouson provided Dr. Slomin with an "interview sheet" that was approximately five or six pages long that asked the defendant to self-report on information regarding the defendant's background (PC-R1. 846). The only other information Rouson provided was "the benefit of [his] discussions with the defendant in jail, [his] observations of him" (PC-R1. 846).

The Record on Appeal is silent as to whether the lower court sua sponte entered the continuance order, or whether a written motion was filed, or whether an oral motion was made at a hearing that is not included in the Record on Appeal.

The Record on Appeal is again silent as to the events that transpired prior to the entering of the Order.

At 8:50 a.m. the morning of the first day of trial, Rouson deposed Catherine Bass, a critical State witness (R. 235-246).

At 9:15 a.m. that morning, Rouson deposed Maryanne Hutton, a critical State witness (R. 247-259). Shortly after the depositions were concluded, the lower court called Mr. Rose's case for trial (R. 458). At this time, Rouson filed a Motion for Continuance (R. 262-263). Rouson informed the lower court that he was unprepared to go forward, as he still had investigations and preparations to complete (R. 460-464). The lower court denied this request (R. 469-470).

Rouson then filed a Motion to Suppress Photo-Pak (R. 260-261). Due to the conclusory nature of the pleading, the lower court postponed the beginning of trial to take testimony (R. 472). At that hearing, Rouson admitted that it was the first time he saw the original photo-pak (R. 472). In addition, for no apparent reason, Rouson only called two of the four witnesses who claimed they could identify Mr. Rose.

At the hearing, Catherine Bass testified that she choose Mr. Rose's photo and rejected the four other photos that were contained in the photo-pak because the four photos did not match her description of the perpetrator:

Q: (BY MR. ROUSON) Ms. Bass, let me show you these pictures again. Would you explain to me why you rejected number 1?

However, Mr. Rouson did not explain that co-counsel, Terry Cobb, had withdrawn from the case and that he felt "shorthanded" because he no longer had her assistance (PC-R1. 851).

- A: Yes, sir, he is too stocky.
- Q: Would you explain to me why you rejected number 3?
- A: His hair is too long. He was not wearing an open-collared shirt. He was wearing a T-shirt.
- Q: Would you explain to me why you rejected number 2?
- A: Yes sir, he had dark hair, bushier than this, not layered like this at all.
- Q: And would you explain why you rejected number 5?
- A: Yes, sir, he had much longer hair than this and he did not have a full beard.
 - Q: Okay, you were able --
 - A: Not this full.
- Q: You were able to distinguish those pictures readily, weren't you?
 - A; Yes, sir.

(R. 486-487).⁵

Melissa Mastridge also testified at the suppression hearing (R. 487-490). Mastridge maintained that she was unable to positively identify Mr. Rose and the only reason she could pick out his picture was because "out of these five pictures, he was the only one that it could be because of his description" (R.

Ms. Bass' testimony reveals that she also eliminated the four pictures in the photo-pak to reach her conclusion that Mr. Rose's picture "matched" her descriptions of the perpetrator. Judge Schaeffer struck witness Mastridge's identification based on exactly the same grounds. Mr. Rose was severely prejudiced by Mr. Rouson's failure to argue this point to the judge at the suppression hearing and Judge Schaeffer improperly compounded the error by denying an evidentiary hearing on guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel.

488). Mastridge also informed the court that there had been some discussion regarding the white lettering on the suspect's tee shirt, although she could not recall if that conversation between the witnesses occurred before they traveled to the police station or once they arrived there (R. 489). Mastridge was unable to identify Mr. Rose during the hearing.

After the hearing concluded, Judge Schaeffer suppressed
Mastridge's out-of-court identification based on the fact that
she eliminated the four (4) other photos rather than choosing Mr.
Rose's photo based on his characteristics (R. 508-509). However,
Judge Schaeffer found that Catherine Bass, Carl Hayword and
Maryann Hutton would be allowed to testify about their out-ofcourt identifications (R. 507-509). Judge Schaeffer made this
finding despite the fact that the photo-pak was not "as ideal as
it might have been", (R. 507), and that Mr. Rose's photo did not
"rise to that much substantial likelihood of irreparable mistaken
identification" (R. 509)(emphasis added). Judge Schaeffer also
based her decision on the fact that she did not hear any
testimony that the witnesses had "seen writing" on the suspect's
shirt (R. 507).

However, Judge Schaeffer ignored the testimony at the suppression hearing that the design and the "white lettering" on the suspect's tee shirt had been discussed between the witnesses (R. 489). During the trial this fact was further emphasized when Bass testified that the perpetrator was wearing a "black t-shirt with a white design on it, block lettering" (R. 710). Mr. Rose's

photo was the only photo with an individual wearing a black tee shirt with white lettering (R. 502-503).

After providing the lower court with only a single district court of appeal case, the lower court ruled, "this [photo-pack] isn't as ideal as it might have been" and, "I don't find the picture gives rise to that much substantial likelihood of irreparable mistaken identification" (R. 507-509). Nonetheless, the lower court allowed the identification of three of the four eyewitnesses to stand.

Jury selection began shortly after the conclusion of the Motion to Suppress hearing. After failing to challenge a single potential juror for cause and using only six peremptory challenges, the jury was seated (R. 611, 612-617, 661-664). Rouson's non-case specific opening statement consisted of only two transcribed pages (R. 696-698).

The State first called eyewitness Catherine Bass (R. 701). On cross examination, Rouson failed to question and impeach Bass with the evolving nature of her description of the suspect (R. 716-731). Rouson's one attempt to impeach Bass' recollection of her initial identification was over a feature that she did, in fact, tell the first officer on the scene (R. 727-728). Rouson failed to elicit that Bass added numerous descriptive terms to her initial identification, such as the suspect was dark complected, had a moustache and beard, unkempt hair, and dark eyes, etc. (R. 722-724). Rouson also failed to elicit that Bass, when selecting photograph number four from the array, was not

certain that the photograph she selected was the perpetrator (R. 730-731).

The State next called Melissa Mastridge (R. 734). Even though the lower court suppressed her identification of Mr. Rose, Rouson failed to limit her testimony and allowed the State to ask Mastridge several questions regarding her description of the perpetrator (R. 740). Rouson did not file a Motion in Limine to prevent the State from asking Mastridge these questions, nor did he object to this line of questioning (R. 740).

The State next called Maryann Hutton (R. 754). As with witness Bass, Rouson failed to impeach Hutton with the glaring inconsistencies between her initial description and her "remembrance" of her initial description at trial (R. 765-769). Hutton added numerous features to her initial description and Rouson failed to educate the jury to this fact.

Later in its case-in-chief, the State called Detective
Luchen, who prepared the photo-pack (R. 782). Rouson moved to
voir dire Luchen, in the presence of the jury, regarding his
preparation of the photo-pack (R. 784). At the conclusion of the
voir dire, Rouson, in open court in front of the jury, moved
again to suppress the photo-pack (R. 787). The lower court
immediately called Rouson to the bench, where the following
exchange occurred:

THE COURT: As you well know, when a Judge makes a ruling as a matter of law, it would be **foolish** for you to speak out and say something like that in front of a jury. But I have obviously ruled, and you know I have already ruled, and now I don't know what else

to do but tell them I have already ruled on that point. Don't do that, just get yourself in a box, when the Court already made a ruling as a matter of law, then what you do is preserve your objection at the bench. You don't say something like that in front of the jury. It isn't fair. Did you think I was going to change my ruling? Did you really think I was going to change my ruling?

* * *

THE COURT: You better do your preserving at the bench, and not in front of the jury. That is just as improper as it can be.

(R. 788)(emphasis added). After this brief lecture on elementary trial procedures, the State immediately moved for the introduction of the photo-pack, capitalizing on the fact that Judge Schaeffer was forced by Rouson into validating the preparation and subsequent identifications of Mr. Rose from the photo-pack (R. 789).

During the State's examination of the Medical Examiner, Dr. Donna Brown, Rouson failed to object when the State misstated the substance of the prior testimony of the eyewitnesses as to the number of times the concrete block was thrown at the victim (R. 844). All of the eyewitnesses testified that the block was thrown no more than three times; however, the State asked whether the injuries were consistent with the block striking the victim five to six times (R. 844).

Due to Rouson's failure to object to this blatant misstatement of prior testimony, the history of Mr. Rose's case is inaccurate. Judge Schaeffer not only relied on this misstatement, but took the liberty of increasing the number of throws to six to eight times to support her finding of the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor (R. 335).

The jury also heard testimony from Borton and Poole. These witnesses testified that Mr. Rose confessed to them (R. 865-866, 890).

Borton testified that on the night of the murder, after leaving Suzanne Duke's apartment, she and Poole saw Mr. Rose hitchhiking (R. 887-888). They stopped and picked him up (R. 888). Borton told the jury: "when he first got in the truck, he told us that he just killed Butch" (R. 888). Borton also testified that Mr. Rose then asked them if he could use them as an alibi (R. 890). Finally, Borton testified that Mr. Rose did not appear to be drunk (R. 894).

During Borton's pre-trial deposition the following exchange occurred:

Q: (By Mr. Rouson) Have you ever been convicted of a crime?

A: (By Ms. Borton) Yes.

Q: What kind or what kinds of crimes?

A: Possession of marijuana and a DWI.

O: Okay.

A: And I have another one, but it was withheld adjudification (sic).

Q: Are you on probation?

A: Yes.

Unfortunately, because Judge Schaeffer denied an evidentiary hearing on guilt phase ineffectiveness, this point has never been challenged.

⁷ Inexplicably, the police did not examine the truck for traces of the victim's blood.

- Q: How long?
- A: Until March of '84.
- Q: Is that for marijuana?
- A: That was for my other one that they withheld adjudification (sic).
 - O: What kind of case was that?
 - A: It was an aggravated assault.
- Q: Did that occur here in Pinellas County?
- A: Yes. It was Mark and I, we got in a fight and it was against Mark.
- MR. YOUNG: To prevent any problem later on, why don't you ask if the marijuana charge was a felony or a misdemeanor?
- Q: (By Mr. Rouson) Was the possession of marijuana a felony or misdemeanor?
 - A: A misdemeanor.
- (R. 208-209) (emphasis added).

At Mr. Rose's trial, during cross examination of Borton, Mr. Rose's counsel did not ask a single question about Borton's prior record or any deals she made with the State (R. 896-900).

Poole testified that he and Borton left Ms. Duke's apartment at around 10:00 p.m. (R. 863-864). After driving for a few blocks he observed Mr. Rose hitchhiking (R. 864). Poole told the jury:

Upon seeing Milo Rose, we stopped and he got into the truck. We picked him up because he lives below us. And as soon as he got into the truck and I made my righthand turn to go across the causeway, just as we started out, Milo spoke up and told Rebecca and I that he had just killed Butch, Butch Richardson.

(R. 865).

At trial Poole indicated that Mr. Rose told him that he was going to use Poole as an alibi (R. 867). However, Poole was never impeached with the inconsistent statement he gave during his deposition that Mr. Rose did not ask him to be an alibi witness (R. 228).

Poole also testified at trial that Mr. Rose was sober, (R. 872); however, during his deposition, when he asked if Mr. Rose had been drinking, he told counsel that he could "smell booze" (R. 222).

Again, the witness was not asked about any previous relationship he had with the State or any specific deals as to Mr. Rose's case (R. 874-882).

At the conclusion of Borton's testimony, Mr. Rose expressed his dissatisfaction with Rouson's lack of preparation and resultant poor performance (R. 901-903). Specifically, Mr. Rose was understandably upset that Rouson told Mr. Rose he had taken all necessary depositions when in fact Rouson had failed to take the deposition of one of the State's eyewitnesses (R. 903). Rouson responded to these complaints: "I cannot stand, in good faith, before this Court at this time and state that I can continue in the purest form of representation that he deserves and he is entitled to under the current law and under the Constitution" (R. 914). Thereupon, Judge Schaeffer and Rouson retired to chambers for an "in camera" discussion. Mr. Rose was excluded from these proceedings. During the in camera

discussion, Rouson told the judge he was not convinced Mr. Rose was innocent. ("He told me [Judge Schaeffer] that he was having a problem with whether or not he felt his client was still -- was innocent")(PC-R1. 812). Rouson was not sure whether this would inhibit his performance. After what "[s]ome people might think that was just subtle arm-twisting" by the judge, Rouson told the judge he could set aside his feelings and continue to represent Mr. Rose (PC-R1. 861). Judge Schaeffer recalled reminding Rouson of his "ethical oath" which would require "vigorous representation as you would if you thought he was innocent" (PC-R1. 813). After Judge Schaeffer's references to the "ethical oath," Rouson announced he would remain on the case.

Mr. Rose continued to express his concern that he was not being effectively represented by Rouson (R. 924). Judge Schaeffer, in an attempt to assuage Mr. Rose's fears, convinced Mr. Rose that all matters concerning Rouson's possible ineffectiveness would be addressed in later proceedings and she would ensure Mr. Rose had counsel to present these matters (R. 924).8

The final piece of evidence the State presented that implicated Mr. Rose in the crime was the presence of blood on him when he was arrested (R. 954). Detective Fire testified:

The fact that Judge Schaeffer summarily denied all guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel claims undermines her trial statements to Mr. Rose that these issues would be examined at a later time.

I asked him how many times he was punched. He said once in the nose. I told him that there was blood all over his shirt, arms and legs, how could that be from a bloody nose? And he stated that he didn't know, he couldn't answer that.

(R. 959).

The State never introduced any scientific evidence which proved that the blood on Mr. Rose was that of the victim.

However, the jury was carefully and improperly led to this conclusion. The State showed that there were extensive blood splatters caused by the manner of killing the victim (R. 1055).

The State also claimed that the blood swabs taken from the person of Mr. Rose were "messed up" because they were "mixed":

Q: Okay, do you also know, from your investigation, sir, whether any blood samples of the victim were taken along with the victim's hair samples?

A: Yes, it was.

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