## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MILO A. ROSE,

Appellant,

vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, CASE NO. 95,227

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Thus, no error can be found with regard to the propriety of the standard used below. In addition, the record fully supports the denial of relief even if a lower standard could be applied. Shortly after Richardson's murder, Borton and Poole saw Rose hitchhiking and gave him a ride home. At that time, Rose was living with Richardson's mother, and Borton and Poole lived in an upstairs apartment at the same location. When the police developed Rose as a suspect, they went to the residence and found him, matching the description of the suspect, with blood on his arms and clothing.

Police went to the upstairs apartment to interview Mark Poole and Becky Borton. Both Poole and Borton told the police that they had picked Rose up hitchhiking earlier and Rose told them repeatedly that he had just killed Richardson with a brick. Borton and Poole's statements about Richardson's murder, just like the

statements of the other four eyewitnesses, have remained consistent from hours after the murder, up through seventeen years later.

Clearly, if any information had been presented at the trial suggesting that Borton and Poole had a deal with the State for their testimony, the State could have presented the statements Borton and Poole made to police on the night of the murder as prior consistent statements. See, Kelley v. State, 486 So. 2d 578, 582 (Fla. 1986) (prior consistent statements admissible to rebut inference of improper motive to fabricate). Given the consistency between Borton and Poole's statements on the night of the murder -- prior to any possible knowledge of any "deal" -- and their testimony at trial, any defense claim that Borton and Poole were motivated to testify in order to strike a deal with the State is not persuasive here and would not have been persuasive to a jury.

In addition, allegations about a deal between the State and Borton and Poole do not reach the level of materiality due to the other, independent evidence of Rose as the perpetrator of this murder. As previously noted, Rose was also identified by four separate witnesses to the murder. Three of these witnesses actually saw Rose throw the concrete block onto the victim's head repeatedly; the fourth interrupted Rose when Rose was poised to strike the victim with the block another time. Three of the four positively identified Rose in the courtroom during the trial and in a photopak hours after the murder. The strength of this evidence,

which remains untainted by allegations of constitutional error, provides a strong foundation for confidence in the verdict against Rose which is not undermined by the <u>Brady</u> claim raised below.

Although Rose asks this Court to also consider the impact of any error in the penalty phase of his trial, he does not have any better claim from that perspective. The sentencing order reflects that the Borton/Poole trial testimony had little significance in the imposition of the death sentence. Only one of the three aggravating factors even remotely relied on this testimony, and it was well established by the other evidence cited in the sentencing order. No mitigation was rejected outright due to the testimony; it was merely one of many factors noted in the trial court's rejection of the statutory mental mitigators.

On these facts, no error has been demonstrated in the trial court's summary denial of Rose's <u>Brady</u> claim. There is no reasonable probability that a different result would be obtained even if Borton and Poole never testified against Rose. The trial court properly found any new information about Borton and Poole to be immaterial, and no relief is warranted.

#### **ISSUE III**

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED THE WRONG STANDARD AND/OR FAILED TO CONSIDER CUMULATIVE ERROR.

Rose's next issue again concerns the trial court's analysis of his summarily denied <u>Brady</u> claim. Citing <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 514 U.S. 419 (1995), <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S375 (Fla. July 8, 1999), <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996), and <u>State v. Gunsby</u>, 670 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1996), Rose asserts that the court below failed to consider any possible cumulative error in determining the materiality of the purported <u>Brady</u> information. Once again, Rose's claim is refuted by the record presented.

The record clearly reflects that the court below did not fail to consider any particular information or evidence which, due to constitutional error, had not been presented to the jury. Rose's only attempt to identify such evidence is a recitation of his prior allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, which were rejected previously by this Court and the trial court, and a comment about a lab report on the blood found on Rose that had been one of the bases of the ineffectiveness claim in Rose's prior postconviction motion. In the prior appeal of Rose's initial postconviction motion, this Court expressly rejected the assertion that trial counsel had provided Rose with ineffective assistance:

We have reviewed the trial record and find that it conclusively rebuts Rose's claims that his counsel provided ineffective assistance in the guilt phase. Rousen brought out on cross-examination and in closing argument that the State had failed to prove that the blood on Rose and his clothing belonged to the victim and that the State had "messed up" the results of the blood tests. Rousen's decision not to present evidence on the blood samples in the defense case was a reasonable trial tactic. Rather than risk an analysis with potentially unfavorable results, Rousen chose to attack the State's lack of evidence on this issue.

Rousen also effectively cross-examined the eyewitnesses to the crime. He pointed out inconsistencies between the eyewitnesses' testimony, as well as differences in the trial testimony of each witness and his or her earlier statements. Counsel brought out those inconsistencies in closing argument. Rose has failed to show any prejudice resulting from the failure to obtain an expert in eyewitness identification.

#### 617 So. 2d at 297.

Since there was no suppressed, withheld, or undisclosed evidence that should, absent constitutional error, have been presented to Rose's jury based on his prior allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, there is nothing to weigh cumulatively with the new information alleged on Poole and Borton from Rose's prior sixth amendment claim.

However, since the materiality standard is not met in this case even if all previously rejected allegations are considered together with the new Borton/Poole allegations, any possible failure by Judge Schaffer to expressly weigh the cumulative effect of this unidentified evidence is harmless. As noted in the previous issue, the essence of the State's case and the strongest

evidence against Rose were the four eyewitnesses that testified about Richardson's murder.<sup>2</sup> Three of these eyewitnesses saw the murder itself; the fourth observed Rose at the scene of the crime, holding the murder weapon. Even when all prior claims are considered, this strong eyewitness testimony is left intact and unscathed. Due to the strength and independence of the eyewitness testimony, the State's case was not so diminished and Rose's defense was not so bolstered by the new Borton/Poole allegations that confidence in the outcome of the trial is undermined. Furthermore, the fact that Borton and Poole had made prior consistent statements again renders these allegations immaterial.

None of the cases cited by Rose compel a different result. In Gunsby, this Court considered a trial court's order denying an evidentiary hearing on a Brady claim regarding criminal records of two key witnesses that had not been disclosed to the defense. Noting that the new evidence only involved records of one of the two eyewitnesses and one of three witnesses that testified about having overheard admissions made by Gunsby, this Court stated that if this had been the only guilt phase issue with merit, this Court would agree with the trial judge's decision to deny the hearing. However, when combined with the other evidence which should have been, but was not, presented to Gunsby's jury, confidence in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The State strongly takes issue with the representation in the appellant's brief that the Borton/Poole testimony provided the "strongest evidence" against Rose in his trial (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 60).

outcome of Gunsby's trial was undermined and a new trial was necessary.

The difference, of course, between <u>Gunsby</u> and the instant case is that Rose is attempting to resurrect a prior ineffective assistance of counsel claim which was previously rejected on the merits by this Court. Thus, although Gunsby was able to demonstrate constitutional error which prevented material evidence from reaching his jury, Rose's claim of constitutional error, presented in his first postconviction motion, was expressly rejected by this Court. Rose has offered no new allegations to supplement or revive his prior claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

Similarly, <u>Lightbourne</u> does not compel any relief for Rose. Lightbourne's initial postconviction motion presented a claim that the jailhouse informants were state agents that unconstitutionally elicited incriminating statements from Lightbourne. At the time of the evidentiary hearing on the motion, two of the informants could not be located, but another testified consistent with Lightbourne's allegations. A few years later, the other two previous inmates were located, but the trial court only entertained testimony from one of the inmates, finding the second to be procedurally barred. On appeal, this Court held that the trial court's materiality analysis was flawed by the failure to consider the postconviction testimony of all three inmates collectively when considering

confidence in the outcome of Lightbourne's trial.

It is significant that despite the extent of the information at issue in <u>Lightbourne</u> -- recantations by key witnesses to Lightbourne's admissions -- this Court denied Lightbourne's request for a new trial, finding that in light of the other, proper evidence against Lightbourne, there was no reasonable probability of a different result on retrial. 24 Fla. L. Weekly at S379. However, because the inmates' testimony had provided much of the evidence to support at least three of the aggravating factors, this Court found that a new penalty phase was warranted.

In Rose's case, Poole and Borton only testified about matters germane to Rose's guilt, not about punishment. Although Rose claims that some mitigation was discounted due to the Borton/Poole testimony and that this testimony was offered as one reason to support the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor, the limited testimony that Rose had admitted this murder clearly did not weigh heavily in the imposition of the death sentence. As previously noted, a review of the sentencing order reflects that the same sentence would have been imposed even if Borton and Poole had never testified.

In conclusion, there is no authority cited by Rose which follows what Rose is asking this Court to do: to reconsider allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel based on entirely new facts for an unrelated <u>Brady</u> claim. In all of the cases relied

on by Rose, new evidence which related to and supplemented a prior claim had to be considered in conjunction with any prior constitutional errors committed at trial. The cumulative error standard has never been held to require reconsideration of allegations of a previously rejected claim when the new evidence or information at issue is completely unrelated to the prior claim. Thus, Rose's request for a remand for further analysis of any cumulative error must be denied.

#### **ISSUE IV**

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT DEPRIVED ROSE OF PUBLIC RECORDS TO WHICH HE WAS ENTITLED.

Rose next challenges the trial court's preliminary rulings with regard to his public records requests. The record clearly demonstrates that the court below properly resolved all public records issues in accordance with Florida law and this Court's precedents. Specifically, Rose challenges the trial court's holding an in camera inspection of the State's exempt materials, denying an evidentiary hearing on allegations of nondisclosure, and failing to require the State to disclose an inventory of all documents withheld as exempt.

Curiously, Rose cites no legal authority in his public records issue. Perhaps this is because the trial court dutifully entertained a sea of public records requests which were fully litigated in compliance with current law. Documents which the State Attorney's Office sought to withhold were examined at an in camera hearing. This is the appropriate procedure. See, Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 206 (Fla. 1998). Some of these were ordered to be disclosed, others were sealed for this Court's review. There has never been a requirement that the State provide a written inventory of all withheld documents. There is no reason to impose the additional requirements suggested by Rose to the well developed law on public records for capital defendants. No relief is warranted in this issue.

#### ISSUE V

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING ADDITIONAL CLAIMS.

Rose's final claim challenges the trial court's denial of the remaining issues presented in his successive postconviction motion. As the trial judge found, none of these issues provided a basis for any cognizable argument for relief, and therefore they were properly summarily denied. As will be seen, review of each issue independently demonstrates the propriety of the trial court's summary rejection of these claims below.

#### A. COMPETENCE OF CURRENT POSTCONVICTION COUNSEL

Rose asserts that his current postconviction proceeding was constitutionally inadequate due to a lack of sufficient funding for collateral counsel. This Court rejected this claim in Remeta v. State, 710 So. 2d 543, 546-547 (Fla. 1998). As in Remeta, the current counsel in this case have not identified any avenues for investigation which could possibly lead to a cognizable postconviction claim. Indeed, it is apparent from a review of the record that the current Brady claim was thoroughly investigated and presented to the lower court, as it has been in this Court. Therefore, this claim was properly summarily denied.

## B. CONSTITUTIONALITY OF JUDICIAL ELECTROCUTION

Rose also presents a claim challenging the constitutionality of Florida's electric chair. This Court has repeatedly rejected similar claims as procedurally barred and meritless. <u>Provenzano v.</u>

State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S443 (Fla. Sept. 24, 1999); Jones v. State, 701 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 1997). Relief was properly denied on this claim.

#### C. CONSTITUTIONALITY OF CLEMENCY PROCESS

Rose next contends that Florida's clemency review process violates his right to due process. As this Court has acknowledged, such a claim "is not properly the subject of a 3.850 motion."

Medina v. State, 690 So. 2d 1241, 1249 (Fla. 1997). Rather, clemency is an exclusively executive function, not subject to being second-guessed by the judiciary. Provenzano v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S314 (Fla. 1997); Bundy v. State, 497 So. 2d 1209, 1211 (Fla. 1986); see also, Wade v. Singletary, 696 So. 2d 754, 756, n.4 (Fla. 1997) (finding executive's power to grant or deny pardons to be beyond control or criticism of judiciary). Moreover, Rose's presentation of this issue is vague and conclusory, devoid of any specific facts identifying even potential deficiencies with the clemency process. For all of these reasons, the court below properly summarily denied this claim.

#### D. CONSTITUTIONALITY OF RULES REGARDING JUROR INTERVIEWS

Rose's last challenge disputes the constitutionality of Florida rules limiting an attorney's right to interview jurors after the conclusion of a trial. As usual, Rose's counsel fails to acknowledge or attempt to distinguish case law directly on point which rejects his claim. In <u>Young v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly

S277, n. 5 (Fla. June 10, 1999), this Court expressly found this to be a direct appeal issue, procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings. See also, <u>Ragsdale</u>, 720 So. 2d at 205. Thus, the court below properly summarily denied this issue as barred.

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